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            INTRODUCTION

         
 
         Sellafield has been part of British national life for over sixty-five years. The first nuclear manoeuvrings began on the site of what we now call Sellafield back in 1947. In 1956, when the Queen opened Calder Hall, the first ever nuclear power station, the local papers got really carried away with headlines like ‘West Cumberland Leads the World!’
 
         Note the use of the name Cumberland. Names do seem to have changed a lot during these years. Since 1974 we have had to say Cumbria, for the old and ancient counties of Cumberland and Westmorland have officially disappeared.
 
         Cumbria, as we now know it, is in the top left-hand corner of England, the far North West, the last county before you get to Scotland, one of the biggest in area of all the English counties but with one of the smallest populations, around half a million. In the main it is rural, isolated, but it includes in the middle all of the Lake District National Park and out on the coast what was once a heavy industrial, shipping and coal-mining area.
 
         The existence of these industrial plants was clearly a factor for a nuclear presence being created on the coast of West Cumbria in 1947, although the exact place they chose to plonk down this new monster was in fact an area of great natural beauty – away from both the shipyards down in Barrow and the steel- and ironworks to the north. It was never as well known as Lakeland proper, but there are some pretty villages, such as Gosforth and Calder Bridge, and some very attractive seaside resorts, such as Seascale and Ravenglass. Ravenglass was recently hailed by the Guardian as one of ‘Britain’s Top 10 Coastal Gems’.
         
 
         Two nearby towns are also gems: Whitehaven with its Georgian squares and streets, and Cockermouth, the birthplace of Wordsworth. Just outside Cockermouth, in a village called Eaglesfield, is the birthplace of John Dalton (1766–1844), who became a maths teacher in Manchester and is credited with being the father of atomic theory. How neat, but totally coincidental, that the modern nuclear industry should have come to play such a large part in Dalton’s home county.
 
         Sellafield, as we now generally refer to it, has suffered some alterations to its purpose as well as its name and image. Things have certainly moved on since 1947 – as well as backwards, sideways and now perhaps forwards once again. It has been acclaimed, feared, loved, despised, admired and given some good kickings.
 
         It has rarely been out of the national headlines, usually for nasty, awful reasons, such as fires, leaks, pollution, leukaemia scares or being daubed and attacked by anti-nuclear demonstrators. It’s been a political football, with some governments falling over themselves to make sure it flourishes, believing it vital to the national well-being, while others have felt ashamed, and wished it would go away.
 
         Today, it might come as a surprise, even to those living in Cumbria, to realize that some 12,500 people are currently employed there. It is the largest industrial operation on one site not just in Cumbria but in the whole of the UK. Car plants, such as Ford at Dagenham, where today scarcely 2,000 are employed, have dwindled as production has moved abroad, but Sellafield has kept going, despite everything.
 
         Its economic impact and social influence totally dominate West Cumbria, now that all the old iron- and steelworks and coal-mines have gone. It affects about a third of the local work-force directly, and indirectly influences the life of the whole of West Cumbria.
 
         Until relatively recently, Sellafield was run by British Nuclear Fuels Ltd – BNFL – part of a government body, strictly controlled from the centre. In its wisdom, or perhaps through worry and alarm, it agreed in 2005 to allow the company to be privatized, under strict guidelines, of course. Public opinion at the time had generally turned against the idea of any sort of nuclear policy, and the government of the day did not want to own directly such a possibly dodgy, dangerous, controversial operation.
         
 
         Since then, the tide of opinion has turned once again, despite the Japanese nuclear disaster of March 2011, caused by an earthquake and tsunami. There was a serious backlash against nuclear plants in Germany, where Chancellor Angela Merkel announced that all German nuclear plants would close by 2022, but in the UK, public reaction was milder. The UK government, at present, is promoting a balanced portfolio of energy development.
 
         Using oil, gas or coal as a source of energy has many drawbacks – they pollute the atmosphere, affect the climate and are not renewable. Wind power is unreliable, unsightly and expensive. North Sea oil, which buoyed us up for so long, is running out. Nuclear energy remains in relative favour, as long as we can somehow make sure the waste products are safe, or as safe as possible, which we seem able to do these days, much more so than in the past. A mixed portfolio also ensures that we are not reliant on just one source or just one provider, especially one from abroad who might pull the plug if we fall out.
 
         At the moment, the British government, in the form of a Conservative–Liberal Democrat Coalition, still appears keen to encourage a new generation of nuclear power plants, despite the fact that many leading politicians were in the past strongly against the nuclear option. A series of new nuclear power plants will be commissioned, built this time using private money, with the first ones likely to be up and running by 2018. In 2011, it was announced that land adjacent to Sellafield was one of the eight chosen sites.
 
         So, Sellafield will still be with us, whether bigger or smaller, and will continue to dominate the life and economy of West Cumbria for decades to come, just as it has for the last six decades.
 
         BNFL effectively ceased to exist as an operating company in 2009, which was when it was wound up. A new consortium of private owners, from the USA, France and the UK, had taken over the running of the business in November 2008.
         
 
         On its demise, it was found there was a tidy sum left over in the BNFL Ltd kitty. In fact they had over £2 million, just lying there, unspent. What to do? Treats all round? A monster bonus and pension pot for all the outgoing directors? A world cruise for all the current workers? A lampstand of Honister slate representing the Queen opening Calder Hall to be given to every West Cumbrian?
 
         Like many important national institutions that have been part of our life and language and culture for so many decades, and like an outgoing British government or US President who fears he is about to get the boot, the big word which came to mind was – drumroll – LEGACY!
         
 
         Wouldn’t it be nice, and awfully appropriate, to have something not just worthy and worthwhile to be remembered by but some things, some creations, which might go on for decades to come? Perhaps, well, for ever? Thus it was decided to make available a large pot of money for various worthy causes and creations in West Cumbria.
 
         It was Lord Clark of Windermere, once a Labour MP and minister in Blair’s first Cabinet, when he was plain David Clark, and a director of Sellafield Ltd since 2007, who suggested creating a record of what Sellafield has been doing in West Cumbria all these years. Why not let the ordinary people of West Cumbria, workers as well as residents, give their memories and opinions of what it has been like to work and live here, under the shadow of Sellafield, for the last five decades?
 
         There would be no strings attached. People interviewed would be free to rubbish or praise, complain or rejoice – BNFL would no longer exist, so couldn’t censor or refute whatever people might care to remember.
 
         And so it came to pass that Whitehaven Archive and Local Studies Centre was gifted the sum of £260,000 to create what is currently the biggest, best-funded and possibly the most ambitious oral history project ever attempted in the UK.
         
 
         What is oral history? For a start, it’s got to be oral, i.e. spoken. But if that were the only definition, you would have to say that Henry Mayhew, going around the streets of London, talking to the poor in the 1850s, was an oral historian, recording what people said to him.
 
         But the only record was his record – what he said that people said to him. Mayhew was basically a journalist, so the words were reflected through the prism of his own words and thoughts. It all depended on what he chose to ask, then write down and knock into shape, possibly for his own reasons and purposes. This is not to say that he made up stuff – perish the thought, no journalist does that, as we all know – but we can’t check his words against what the people he spoke to actually said. Tottenham Court Road, alas, was not then crammed with shops selling recording equipment.
         
 
         I had always assumed that Mass Observation, that wonderful project set up just before the Second World War to record the lives of ordinary people – whose collection has been used in books and turned into television programmes and films, notably Housewife, 49, the excellent drama written by and starring Victoria Wood about Nella Last from Barrow – was oral history. But it wasn’t, not as we define it today. It was written history, produced by ordinary people who agreed to keep their diaries for a certain length of time. We don’t actually hear their voices, know their accents.
         
 
         Proper, modern oral history has come to mean sound history – we get to hear people speaking, their actual words, as they said it, as they thought it, with no editing, no polishing, no setting them up, no mucking around with it later.
 
         This sort of oral recording of ordinary people talking has been done, up and down the country, for the last fifty years or so, often the work of a local enthusiast who has gone out with his or her own tape recorder and caught local people. Often it has taken place to mark some event, such as a long-established and well-loved school or hospital being closed, or because some dramatic incident has recently occurred, such as a flood or a foot and mouth epidemic. These quickly captured local accounts and memories are then handed over to the local history group or the local council archives, in the hope that they will keep them safe.
         
 
         When my wife was writing a book about Carrs of Carlisle, the biscuit people, she was delighted to find by chance in the local record office in the Castle recordings of people who had worked at Carrs, some fifty years earlier, giving their memories. Local record offices do of course like to try to create and organize their own oral history projects, but rarely have they had the equipment or expertise or, most of all, the funds. Which makes the West Cumbrian project all the more remarkable.
 
         The person who is looked upon as the father of post-war oral history, at least in the UK, is George Ewart Evans, a Welshman who became a teacher in Suffolk. He spent many years recording local voices, mainly agricultural, and produced some very popular books based on his work, such as Ask the Fellows Who Cut the Hay.
         
 
         Today, oral history is a growth industry, increasingly popular, with hundreds of people all over the country at this moment going out with recording machines, grabbing ordinary people, getting them up against a wall and saying, ‘Quick, get talking. Just talk, any old thing; it’s oral history, innit?’ That’s an exaggeration, of course, but it has become part of our current passion for family history, greatly facilitated by the fact that half-decent, reasonably priced recording gear is widely available.
 
         What is now happening is that oral history has roughly split in two. At one end are what we may term the amateurs, and there’s nothing wrong with them, of course. A local history group or a Women’s Institute will decide to record some interesting oldies. They don’t have much training, if any, in interviewing, or a great deal of structure in their aims or methods, though of course the results can still be delightful.
 
         Then we have the professionals, folk who have been trained and educated in the science, discipline and methodology of oral history, for these days you can study it at colleges and universities and get degrees. They create a proper structure, following certain rules and systems, and use mainly trained, sometimes paid, interviewers.
 
         There is a thriving Oral History Society, which tends to be dominated by people teaching in universities or professionals working in the field, such as staff of local record offices. They have annual conferences at which erudite papers are read and later published.
         
 
         The Sellafield Project is in the professional category, as it has been organized by the Whitehaven Archive and Local Studies Centre, using trained and paid workers, interviewers and transcribers and state-of-the-art equipment. Their microphones, for example, cost over £800 each. One hundred West Cumbrians were interviewed, men and women, old and young, workers and ex-workers, as well as ordinary residents who just happened to have lived for some time under the looming shadow or the welcoming shade – depending on how you view its power and influence – of Sellafield.
 
         They were self-selecting, in the sense that publicity was circulated in the local press about the project and people were invited to come forward. Talks were given to local societies and groups, and again volunteers were called for. Once it got going, an active effort was made to track down people they had heard about, or had been recommended, or whom they needed to fill in gaps, to cover the whole age range, represent women as well as men and show all the various activities associated with Sellafield.
 
         Some interviews lasted for up to four hours and ran to ninety pages when typed up. One old farmer answered two questions and said, that’s it, I’m off. People were free to say what they liked, and say it at whatever length they liked. There was a structure to the questions, starting with their birth and background, how they came to Sellafield or the area, teasing out their life, but never pushing or getting them to react in a certain way by putting loaded questions, which is what a journalist might have done.
 
         These hundred interviews, word for word, have now been preserved for ever. You can find details of them on a special website (www.sellafieldstories.org.uk) or you can go along to the Local Studies Library in Whitehaven Archive Centre and sit down and listen to everyone. Could take a long time. There is approximately 300 hours of material.
         
 
         It is hoped that schools, students and academics, as well as writers and researchers, will make use of it. There will be touring exhibitions, explaining the project and showing selected highlights. Thanks to some computer wizardry, you won’t have to sit through them all but can key in words so that you can bring up particular areas you want to hear about, such as leaks, fires, leukaemia, or more general subjects people have talked about which are not directly connected with Sellafield but cover the last sixty years of life in West Cumbria, such as hiring fairs, Herdwick sheep or rugby league. The interviews and life stories have been so wide ranging that they will provide a treasure trove for generations of social historians to come.
 
         It is assumed they will last for ever because a special gold disc has been created which will survive, so we are told, for 200 years – by which time there will doubtless be new ways and means of recording human sounds. To cover this eventuality, money and instructions have been left to transfer or migrate, which is the term the experts use, all the 2010 recordings on to whatever will be the next big, wondrous technological breakthrough.
 
         Jenni Lister, Local Studies Librarian at Cumbria Archive and Local Studies Centre, Whitehaven, who has been in charge of the project, says that the ultimate object is ‘to give a voice to the people of West Cumbria – but set them in a social and economic context, which is the history of Sellafield’. Ordinary people in the past do tend to have been missed out when it comes to local or national history. Memories of the last war and the beginnings of Sellafield in the 1940s are still clear in the minds of many thousands of West Cumbrians, so this has been a wonderful opportunity to set down their experiences, firsthand and verbatim, before it is too late.
 
         Apart from the size and ambition of the project, which in itself is most unusual, what has fascinated me, reading all the transcripts, has been the combination of the local and the national. Over the last sixty years, in far-flung, apparently remote rural areas of the country, people have been going about their ordinary lives very much like people elsewhere: fearful of the eleven-plus, getting a job, finding a house. So while there are local names and references which many readers might not recognize, their situations should be clear to most British people.
         
 
         It is the combination of these ordinary daily lives with what became an international and highly controversial subject which is so fascinating. These ordinary workers and residents never expected to have a global spotlight shone on them – their work criticized, their lives threatened, to have government ministers either fawning over them or disowning them, to be visited by royalty and prime ministers and dignitaries from around the globe. And protestors. It just happened to be the job they found themselves doing. As with most so-called dangerous or controversial industries, the ones who appreciate the benefits in the form of local work and wealth usually have different, more favourable opinions from those ignorant of the realities of life in West Cumbria. Nonetheless, it is revealing how many Sellafield workers, lowly or senior, labourers or PhDs, have very clear-eyed and critical views on what life was really like at Sellafield.
 
         This book is a distillation of the hundred oral histories. My main problem was first to reduce the 7,000 pages of transcripts and some 2 million words to a manageable length. Alas, I had to chuck out completely around two-thirds of the interviews.
 
         I did consider arranging them under subject headings – for example wartime, education, training, the Queen’s visit, nuclear leaks – and under each heading have assorted quotations from different people. But I decided that would lose the flavour of each individual. They have talked about so much, and at great length, in most cases going through their whole life story, often in such colourful, amusing, reflective terms, that I wanted to retain the character of each person.
 
         My object then was to try to arrange the chosen thirty-six or so into a narrative, so that the interviews roughly flow on chronologically, so that the story builds up and we have accounts of the major developments and events as they happened. There is some repetition, of course, as incidents like the fire of 1957 needed to be recounted from various perspectives, but I tried to cut out stuff which was covered by other people in very much the same way.
         
 
         I also tried to select a variety of people, roughly alternating the high-powered, highly trained scientists, most of whom came from elsewhere in the UK, with the local workers, who had perhaps worked in other local industries, or in agriculture, before finding themselves at Sellafield. I deliberately tried not to reveal on the first page of each story what their precise position became at Sellafield – or whether they ever actually worked there. I want the reader to read on, get caught up in their life, how it all came about, how they progressed, or not, and what they now think. That is how I read the transcripts, and how anyone listening to the tapes will hear them – not knowing what is to come. This was, for me, part of the excitement.
 
         I put no words into their mouths, as after all this is genuine oral history, not journalism. I know from interviewing people for newspapers and books all these years that I do take liberties. You have to. You put stuff together, link bits that were never meant to go together, polish up sentences and thoughts, follow your own agenda, go for the best, most fascinating bits and often miss out completely what the person really wanted to say – and of course you push them on to topics and to saying things they didn’t want to say. God, we’re bastards.
 
         In this case, the words you will now read are exactly the words the interviewees actually spoke. However, I am sure I have taken on occasion a different form of liberty. I did have to cut out huge chunks of their lives and experiences which they themselves would probably have liked to have retained. In doing so I have probably skewed their life stories, got things out of proportion, given at times the wrong impression. For this I apologize. I felt I had to do it, to pick out the most interesting bits, or bits not dealt with elsewhere, and cut out whole areas of their lives in order to avoid repetition and keep the story flowing.
 
         Every person’s story in this book version has been drastically cut down, so the 4,000 or so words you read are only a part of the 10,000, sometimes 20,000 words and even on one occasion 90,000 words that they actually spoke. For those interested, and wanting to know more, you can always go back to the originals and read or listen to the whole lot.
         
 
         As well as chucking out huge sections, I have had to tighten paragraphs and sentences – not by adding words (except now and again in [square brackets] when I felt it was needed). In doing this, I only hope I have not altered the meaning in any way. I generally deleted ‘umms’ and ‘ers’, repetitions and sentences starting, stopping and starting again as I felt it would be annoying to read. It is surprising how we all do this, all the time, even the so-called most educated. Grammar was not altered, nor ‘better’ words substituted. Funnily enough, there was no swearing, no foul language, but I suppose the artificial situation, sitting with a professional interviewer and an expensive-looking machine, knowing this was going to be a record for always, put the interviewees on their best behaviour.
 
         The interviewees did attack and criticize, and no doubt some of their complaints are unfair and even factually wrong, as some dates and names may be. If this had been journalism, appearing in the public prints, I would have checked their stories and also let the lawyers have a look. But this is oral history – what people actually said and thought, right or wrong.
 
         I did think accents might be a problem. The transcribers typed out exactly every sound in the interview, all the noises off, recorded every cough and laugh, and tried to get down the exact dialect and local words and phrases. The West Cumbrian accent can be pretty strong and the dialect at times obscure, though as I am originally from Cumbria, and have lived in West Cumbria half of the year for the last twenty-five years, I like to think I understand most people.
 
         However, out of all the hundred interviewees, only one spoke in what one might call a strong Cumbrian dialect – and he is present in the book as he spoke. He is amusing for a start, and informative, and I think, I hope, that most people will, with a small bit of effort, be able to work out what he is on about. Two or three others do now and again revert to the local dialect. Several have other regional accents, like cockney or West Country, and on one occasion upper-class posh, but on the page, written down, you will scarcely be aware of this. The vast majority speak English that is clear and understandable. Who says our education system had gone to the dogs?
         
 
         Making the science understandable was more difficult. I have to admit that I often got totally lost when people were explaining exactly what they did. With journalism, I would have gone back, if something in my notes did not make sense, and asked them to explain in simpler words, but with oral history, it has been set in stone. It can’t be altered. And I couldn’t go back to them. So when in doubt, I am afraid I just chucked out technical stuff I could not follow.
 
         This book is therefore the edited highlights, the action replays, the best in show of one of the most extensive oral history projects of our times about what has been, is still and will probably remain one of the most important industries of our times.
 
         
             

         
 
         Hunter Davies
 
         Loweswater, 2011
 
      

      

    


  

    

      
         
         
 
         
            PART ONE
 
            The Early Years
 
            1940s–1960

         
 
         
         
 
         
 
         
 
         
         
 
         
             

         
 
         All the interviewees appear roughly chronologically, at least in order of their year of birth, which does not always mean the order in which they started working at Sellafield (if indeed they did so).
 
         In Part One their experiences and memories take us through the first two decades and cover the early period in the creation of Sellafield.
 
         The story of Sellafield has been played out against a national background, with developments and investments always dependent on the moods and wishes, money and commitment of the national government in London.
 
         It was the Labour government under Attlee (Prime Minister, 1945–50) that first began the UK’s nuclear industry in 1945, supported under successive Tory governments, from Churchill (1951–5), Eden (1955–7) and Harold Macmillan (1957–63) to Margaret Thatcher (1979–90). Now and again there were government inquiries, usually after some scandal, and things were put on hold, but then another generation of plants and processes was given the go-ahead, despite anti-nuclear protests.
 
         In the 1980s, many Labour leaders, mostly CND (Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament) supporters, were strongly against the nuclear industry, though in West Cumbria, the local Labour Party, realizing the importance of Sellafield to the local economy, always supported it.
 
         When Labour eventually got into power again under Tony Blair in 1997, the nuclear industry was encouraged to expand – which has been the case since the Tory–Lib Dem Coalition came to power in 2010.
 
         A Brief History of Sellafield, 1940s–1960
 
         ‘Sellafield’ originally referred to a couple of farms, Low and High Sellafield, which appeared on local maps as early as the seventeenth century. Windscale, which is how the present Sellafield site was known in the early nuclear years, was just a dot on the map – the name of a bluff, a bit of land overlooking the sea. Calder, as in Calder Hall, also comes from local place-names, the River Calder and an ancient monastery known as Calder Abbey.
 
         Throughout the first ten years – 1947–57 – of excitement and of encouragement and euphoria, plus massive construction and research as the site hugely expanded, some safety corners had perhaps been cut. The workers, at all levels, were pioneers, working out as they went along how to do very technical, experimental things.
         
 
         It also has to be remembered that it all began in wartime, by people used to wartime conditions, when there was a real need for secrecy. People accepted that information had to be guarded and that our leaders did know best. 
 
         
            1941 During the Second World War, the British government, in the shape of the Ministry of Supply, acquires some land at Sellafield and builds a factory making an explosive known as TNT. All hush-hush, so they didn’t let on. Four miles away at a place called Drigg they had another ordnance factory making shells and bombs.
            
 
            1945 The war is coming to an end and the government hands the site over to Courtaulds, the chemical and clothing manufacturers.
            
 
            1945 6 August, in the final stages of the war, the Americans carry out two atomic attacks on Hiroshima and Nagasaki.
            
 
            1946 The Labour government, under Attlee, are frustrated that the Americans are not willing to share their nuclear secrets so decide they had better go it alone, and devise their own nuclear capability.
            
 
            1947 Courtaulds are chucked out and the site taken over again by the government. Work begins on constructing two nuclear reactors. The nuclear-generating process, for peaceful means or otherwise, begins with the splitting of uranium atoms in a controlled way inside a reactor. This produces heat energy.
            
 
            1952 Two reactors, known as the Windscale Piles – as the site was generally known – begin producing plutonium. Pile 1 was opened in 1950 and Pile 2 in 1951. They are distinguished by their massive chimneys. Weapons-grade plutonium is being produced for military purposes, though this is never publicly announced.
            
 
            1953 Work begins on building Calder Hall on the site, to be the world’s first commercial-sized nuclear power station to harness heat – for peaceful means. This is announced, loudly.
            
 
            1954 The United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority is set up, replacing the role of the Ministry of Supply, and takes over the site and other nuclear-related sites elsewhere.
            
 
            1956 17 October, the Queen opens Calder Hall. Enough electricity was now being created to supply a city of 150,000 people. Calder Hall operated successfully for another forty-seven years – closing down only in 2003 – and was the forerunner of ten so-called Magnox power stations which came into operation in the UK in the 1960s. (‘Magnox’ comes from the fact that the solid metal uranium fuel is encased in a magnesium alloy cladding.)
            
 
            1957 10 October, Windscale fire. A fire in the Number 1 Pile destroys the core and releases radioactivity into the environment. No one is killed or injured, but milk from the surrounding farms was destroyed as a precaution. Neither pile was used again. It was a wake-up call.
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         Mary Johnson: farmer’s daughter, born 1922 on the farm which became the site of Sellafield. Later a teacher and vicar’s wife.
 
         
            ‘It was a compulsory purchase. I mean my father was just absolutely told. It was so sudden…. Whether this nuclear business is good or bad, I wouldn’t like to say. I’m too old…. But really, I’d rather it hadn’t come …’
            

         
 
         
 
         
 
         
         
 
         
             

         
 
         I was born at Low Sellafield Farm in 1922, December the nineteenth. My father was farming it, he owned the farm and he’d moved there when he got married, he moved there from Yottenfews Farm, which was just about a mile away. The farm included a couple of cottages, one in the yard, another one across the field, just within the same complex. It was a mixed agricultural farm. Just a bit of everything, really.
 
         The neighbours from around Sellafield used to come to the farm to collect the milk. We made butter and he took the butter to Whitehaven Market to sell. Mother used to make the butter, in the main. On the train to Whitehaven, oh yes, from Sellafield station.
 
         We usually had two girls. One slightly older and then the younger girl and they were mostly from Egremont or various places nearby. They did domestic work. Just generally helped in the house. Helped Mother. They didn’t work outside, apart from taking meals to the fields and that sort of thing.
 
         The men working on the farm were living nearby, and one – Willie, as we called him – he seemed to last for ever. He was unmarried and he lived in the house, with us, and he was mostly with the cows, the dairy side of it.
 
         The farm was three-hundred-plus acres and my father also rented a fishing garth from Calder Abbey. The actual garth was rather like a fence with open weave, a ‘V’ shape, so that when the tide came in, then River Calder went out again, the fish were trapped. Some were used for ourselves for meals and others were taken to Seascale to be sold to the fish shop. There were two boarding schools in Seascale and the fish was bought by them and used in the meals.
 
         Windscales, that was the name for a field on top of the Banks which overlooks the beach. My father grew carrots there. ‘My carrots were the best carrots in the countryside,’ this sort of thing. He always wanted to have the best of everything. You know?
 
         I was the youngest and we all started at Beckermet School. We had to walk or cycle or, if it was wet, we went by train. But normally we walked. Sometimes I went on the back of my … brother’s bicycle.
 
         If it was raining in the evening we were allowed to stay behind at school and the headmaster gave us a penny or whatever for the train fare home. We’d put in time until the train arrived. I think it was the Mail Train, carrying the mail.
         
 
         I got a County Minor Scholarship, at the age of eleven. I don’t quite know how, but I passed! And I went to Whitehaven Secondary School. Those who didn’t pass just carried on until they were fourteen – that included my brother – and left at fourteen. I went by train to Whitehaven. Probably took about half an hour. It was long enough to be sick! I was always travel sick.
 
         In the mornings when we were going, you could actually see the train, could see it leaving Seascale. So we would run across the field to catch it. For the return journey, if the smoke was coming out of the tunnel, you’d to get a move on. You were going to miss the train if you didn’t. So, er, that was it.
 
         I was absolutely middle of the road. We had graphs in the front of our reports, which were in the form of a book, kept from year to year, and my graph in the front was a straight line! I never varied. Neither bottom nor top – huh!
 
         Well, I was keen on French. And I did toy with the idea of teaching French and I went to, just for an interview, Liverpool University. I decided I was setting my sights too high. So instead I applied to Teacher Training College. I qualified as a teacher in 1943.
 
         I started teaching at Armathwaite, near Carlisle; I was there for three years. And that was very nice. It was a country school, but being near Carlisle, we were handy for the inspectors, as you might say. We had quite a lot of visits. Whereas they didn’t bother to come all the way down to Calderbridge!
 
         Immediately I went to college, in 1941, the farm was taken over by TNT. They were making munitions, initially. It was on account of the rivers, I think, the rivers converged at Sellafield and it meant there was a lot of water. The factory was owned I think by Courtaulds, who made clothing, but this was for explosives.
 
         It was a compulsory purchase. I mean my father was just absolutely told. It was so sudden. They came in September … and sowed the first seeds of doubt. And when I came home for the Christmas holidays, my parents had actually moved out, lock, stock and barrel, to a smaller farm in Gosforth, on the Holmrook Road. Everything had to be done in such a hurry. You can imagine – the house, everything, sold up. I don’t suppose he bargained with them, as he didn’t bother about money too much, but I know he got eleven thousand – for the farm, the land and I think, yes, there were four cottages which people had been living in, but immediately most of them were pulled down.
         
 
         At Galderbridge, we just had the house and then we built this bungalow. Mother died, Father died and my sister and myself were left. I married Joe and when he retired, we built an annexe on the bungalow where my sister was living alone. She went into the annexe and we lived in the bungalow. And that annexe cost eleven thousand. It was a sore point with my sister. She used to say, ‘Eleven thousand for this annexe and we got eleven thousand for …’ But, it was the passage of time, you see.
 
         Anyway, back in 1941, when the TNT people appeared, it was a case of you have to get somewhere and quick. They said, ‘We want your house.’ Men came and architects and people, professional people like that, came and stayed in the house – my parents were still living there, and they took part of the house, sort of lodging, you know? They made offices in the buildings and then, it wasn’t very long until – I don’t know how many years – they pulled the whole place down completely.
 
         After teaching in Armathwaite, I came to Calderbridge School. My parents were getting older, my sister hadn’t very good health and I came home and lived in Gosforth and taught at Calderbridge School. If there weren’t enough pupils for three teachers, I used to go out on to other schools sometimes.
 
         I was teaching at Calderbridge School when Joe came to be vicar of Calderbridge with a young family and his wife. That was 1957. And his wife died.
 
         Must have been after about two years when she died. The children were at boarding school – well, the young boy actually was in my class for a wee bit. Then they went to boarding school as they got older and then we married. The bishop married us. Oh! I could have brought that photo but I didn’t think. No, I didn’t have a family; my husband had his three children, when his wife died.
         
 
         I left teaching when I was married. I became the vicar’s wife … and that was that. It would be 1962. We retired in 1978, at which time Joe was sixty-eight years old, and we lived in the bungalow, just outside the village, and he helped out quite a bit in the area, he looked after Gosforth parish for a while, took various services when vicars were on holiday. He used to go to Sellafield. They had a sort of lunchtime … kind of religious meeting and he used to go and take a service as did other, other vicars.
 
         It’s difficult. I wasn’t anti-nuclear, and I realized that it provided work, but at the same time it was a different type of work completely. The area changed because it had been a small farming community. People left the farms and went to work at Sellafield.
 
         When I was a child the church would be full. Now, well, just a handful of us and we’re all getting to be round about the same age, and one by one we’re, you know, the church is just dwindling. At the present moment the vicar is, she’s leaving, we have a lady vicar and she’s going back to the north-east. We are wondering how we’ll possibly carry on. We’re just doddering along. I’m one of the dodderers.
 
         I remember when Joe first came, he used to go in the Golden Fleece, just for social reasons and meet parishioners, you know? And they were all pals together. When Joe was eighty, one of the parishioners was putting up a flag and this chap said at the bar, ‘What you putting a flag up for?’
 
         ‘Joe Johnson is eighty.’
 
         ‘Joe Johnson, who’s he?’
 
         I heard about the Sellafield fire, the one in 1957. I’m trying to think. My brother was still on the farm, that’s right. He was on the farm at Gosforth and he was affected as other farms were. He had to put milk down the drain. Those who were working there, well, it was their work and so they didn’t want to be against the thing. We’d better not say anything because it’s so and so’s livelihood. So sometimes you kept quiet, but you know, you were scared stiff really. It’s just head-in-the-sand attitude, I know it is.
         
 
         Whether this nuclear business is good or bad, I wouldn’t like to say. I mean I know nothing whatsoever about the scientific side of it. I don’t feel … entitled to form an opinion because I don’t know. And I’m too old [nearly 90]. But really, I’d rather it hadn’t come …
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         Joe Farrell: farm labourer, then Sellafield worker, remembers the Windscale fire of 1957 when the Number 1 Pile was destroyed.
 
         
            ‘I worked on the cooling towers at Calder Hall. You poured concrete in continuously. You were three hundred feet up. Didn’t have a helmet or anything …’ 
            

         
 
         
 
         
 
         
         
 
         
             

         
 
         I was born at Cleator Moor in West Cumbria in a road called Birks Road on the eighth of March 1925. We all lived in a small house, terraced house, wid [with] only two rooms, no bathroom, no hot water, nothing. The fire grate was where everything was cooked, you know, everything was done around the fire. If you wanted a bath, you’d a bath round it and boil the kettle on the fire.
 
         Me father was out of work, because at that time, 1925, it was a depression then. After the war there was a big uplift in Cleator Moor, blast furnace and railways, mines and quarries, plenty of work up to the 1920s – and then everything went. Up to the war started, 1939, there was no work. But the people were more together than what they are now. It was like, like the floods, when you get a flood or owt like that, that’s when people pull together.
 
         Most of the time now you don’t know your next-door neighbour, do you? When I was twelve years old, I had to go to Carlisle Infirmary to have a operation to remove my tonsils and adenoids. I told my desk mate at school about this and when the form teacher read out the names from the register, he asked if anyone knew what the reason was for me to be absent. ‘Yes, I do,’ said my friend. ‘He’s gone to the hospital to have his eyes, nose and tonsils taken out!’ The teacher said, ‘Well, he won’t be seeing us again.’
 
         One family I know had thirteen children. As times were hard, the food was rationed, so one loaf of bread had to suffice at each meal. The loaf was cut into slices to allow one child one meal – oh, sorry, one slice at a time. The father handed out, handed out one per person. And one boy shouted up, ‘I haven’t got one, Dad.’ He said, ‘Let’s have them all back; it’s a mis-deal.’
 
         Large fairs came to Cleator Moor at that time. There were boxing booths and if anyone could survive two rounds with the fairground pugilist he would receive ten shillings. The chap with the thirteen children decided to have a go, as the children didn’t have any money. He took a hammering and did not last the two rounds. However, the promoter felt sorry for him and gave him five shillings.
 
         I left school at fourteen and the only work was farm work. And it would solve a problem of overcrowding in the house if I could live in at a farm. So I went to Whitehaven market, where a farmer gave me one shilling to seal the hiring deal. I was taken by my father on the crossbar of his bike to the farm, south of Gosforth. After a talk with the farmer, and a look around, my father did not like the set-up, so we decided to return the shilling and get back on the bike and we returned home.
         
 
         The following Monday, I journeyed to Cockermouth, where I was hired by a farmer from Lorton. My father again got out the bike and we went to Lorton, where we decided to take the job. It was agreed on the large sum of £5 for six months period; the fiver to be paid at the end of the term, providing I was satisfactory. The farm was mostly sheep, several hundreds Swaledale and Herdwick. Two milk cows, just for use on the farm and making butter, one horse, no crops, just grass, no straw. Bracken was used for bedding. The bracken was piled high on the, on the fells. I cut it down and then I loaded it onto a sledge.
 
         Then I left the farm and went to work in the iron ore mines, near Egremont. Iron ore mines was terrific hard work, because you are shovelling metal. You might say, ‘well, we shovelled a lot more coal,’ but the shovel you used was heavier to start with. From when iron-ore mines started in the 1850s, you just come home as you were. You were called the red men because you were red – and the house was red. See that carpet there? It’s red, well that’s the way the house was then.
 
         When I was there, they had brought in showers. So you got your red clothes off and put your own clothes on. But even so, the iron ore was in your face and in your skin – and you could tell anybody that worked there. You couldn’t get it out, yeah. I was there for about three, three and summat years, aye. Eventually I left and I was in the Army for two year.
 
         I was in the Army when I got married. I was twenty-one, yeah. I done me training – come home and got married and then they sent me to Egypt, Palestine, which is Israel now. There was a terrorist organization going on there. And I was there until eventually they pulled out of Palestine and then I was sent to Kenya where the terrorists were going there, Mau Mau and that. I never got home. I got married and never seen her for another two year.
         
 
         I demobbed in 1948, and since then, I came out, I done all sorts. I didn’t like being out of work. I took any jobs and the first job I had was on local housing sites, going round putting slates and that on. And then I eventually went, like every – most people – to work at Sellafield. And I worked for several firms there, on contract, when they were building the piles.
 
         I worked on the cooling towers at Calder Hall, steel fixing. The cooling towers were quite – they were round about three hundred feet, I think. They were like shaped like a egg-timer, you know, like a lady, if you like. Never wore anything: nothing. Didn’t have a helmet or nothing. Didn’t have hearing aids, owt like that: nothing.
 
         There was no big cranes like there is now, it all had to be hauled up by a small … sort of lift. You got a little machine and a wire, sort of thing, pulling you up.
 
         You got a break, mebbe ten minutes’ break. And you had to walk down, get your break and go back up again. And they expect you to be down and up in ten minutes. You were in the cabin and had a cup of tea, about five minutes they were saying, ‘Right, everybody back up.’ Sometimes you just couldn’t be bothered, you’d just stay up there.
 
         There was continuous work, you poured concrete continuous. The joiners would put another shutter up and you kept moving them round. We had shift work and you’d just keep taking the shutters and moving them up. You were three hundred feet up. You had to work whether it was raining or not, you know, you had to get the job done.
 
         I was there during the fire, when the atomic pile, Pile Number 1, was on fire. There was a phone message come and the electric foreman said to me, ‘There’s a fire down at the pile. They’re wanting a forklift.’ He didn’t know what it was, just a fire. And I had never drove a forklift. So I went to this place where a forklift – I got this forklift out in the dark, there was no lights on it. When I got down to the pile, under the pile, there was all these people running round in frogmen’s suits. I was just, as I am now, in my ordinary civilian clothes. And they said, ‘What you doing here? What are you doing here? You shouldn’t be down here.’ I said, ‘They’ve asked for a forklift, there’s a fire.’ They said, ‘Aye, it’s a tommy [atomic] you know, the pile is on fire.’
         
 
         In them days, you were really ignorant, really. Went back to the office and, and told the foreman. They kept me there – instead of just doing the one shift – they kept me there. I’d done a double shift. They stopped people coming in from outside. Everybody that wasn’t in with the pile, doing anything, they were all sent home. I was kept there for two days and I didn’t know really what was happening, really. I’d never had a test yet and you know, that was fifty-odd years ago.
 
         I came home and didn’t really know what to do. I remember putting all me clothes in the bath and washing, thinking you could wash it off. Which you know, there’s no such thing as washing it off, it’s there for ever isn’t it, nearly? So actually I don’t know whether it done me good or it done me harm. Luckily, I’m still here.
 
         Another time, I was walking on the fells, have done for twenty years. And I was up on Great Gable with a group of people the day of Chernobyl. There was a terrific storm and we had to lie, actually lie down on the ground, hailstones and rain and we were absolutely soaked. We got home and heard about this Chernobyl. Even fifty years, or is it forty year, whenever it was, there’s still sheep there that’s not allowed to, they’re still on the ground. I supposed I must have got a bit that day.
 
         Somebody in nearly every family worked at Sellafield, didn’t they? The money was better than what you got local. The only thing I have with Sellafield is, if you like to put it, is the waste, what they do with the waste. That worries me. It won’t affect me personally because I’m eighty-five and I’ll be buried before the waste. It worries me what they’re gonna do with all the waste. It’s accumulating. Round here in the ground, if you’ve been in mines, you know the ground’s not very stable. I don’t know, I’m not scientific. Eventually they might find some means of doing with it. But I worry about me grandchildren, yeah.
         
 
         It’s all to do with energy, you know. People doesn’t like windmills, they don’t; some people doesn’t like this, but we’ve got to change, haven’t we? We all relied on coal at one time, but the coal’s now gone. You don’t know what’s the best do you, really? What’s gonna be the future?
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         Wally Eldred: Cambridge-trained scientist, who rose to become head of laboratories at Sellafield. Interviewed with his wife Pam.
 
         
            ‘I’m proud of what was done, but sorry we lost that initiative. We were ahead of the game, you see …’ 
            

         
 
         
 
         
 
         
         
 
         
             

         
 
         Well, both Pam and I were born and brought up in Sutton Coldfield – that’s just north of Birmingham. I was born in 1925: March the fourteenth 1925. I went to the local grammar school, Bishop Vesey’s Grammar School. Pam went to the corresponding girls’ high school, but we didn’t meet till we were, till I was eighteen.
 
         I got a state bursary in science to Cambridge University and went off there. In those days you just did two years, leading up to a wartime degree. At the end of that time, one was directed to work of national importance. I had hoped to go into the Air Force as a signals officer, but the war ended and I got directed into something else, which was the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, concerned with coal-mines.
 
         My job was to go down underground, take samples of coal, bring them back to the lab and analyse them. On that basis we could decide which seams were worth mining.
 
         Whilst that was going on, the Americans issued what they called the Smyth Report, on the story of the development of the atomic bomb. And it was mentioned there that it might be possible to utilize that atomic energy for peaceful purposes, for power generation. I thought, ‘Well that sounds just right to me.’
 
         The miners were a fine lot and it was fine working with them – but there was high mortality in those days, working conditions weren’t very good, so the idea that someone might be able to generate power without mining coal … was very attractive.
 
         Mr Attlee announced the setting up – he was the Prime Minister then – the setting up of Harwell. So I wrote off to them immediately and said, ‘Look, can I get a job with you?’ So the first of January 1947, I started work at Harwell. It was snowing as it’s been here recently.
 
         In 1954, the Atomic Energy Act was passed, that made it clear that it wasn’t all going to be owned by industry, that the Atomic Energy Authority was being set up. That was the thing to go for. There’s a job at Sellafield – Windscale as we called it then. I brought you up, didn’t I, Pam, for a look round?
 
         In 1954, we stayed at the Woolpack and climbed Bow Fell and it was an interesting job for me. The Lake District, by the seaside, it was all there and I thought the prospects were good. I said to Pam at the time, ‘Look, it’s a bit out of the way up there you know, if we go we’re going to stick it for five years.’ We’re still here of course.
         
 
         I’d only been here a short time and the then head of laboratory said to me, ‘Look, we’ve a few problems with fuel elements in the Windscale Piles, would you mind taking a look at these?’ What that involved is what we call post-irradiation examination: you took the fuel from inside the reactor – it’s intensely radioactive of course, so you have to do it in flasks and behind shielded facilities in the laboratory.
 
         We learned to do very detailed examinations, non-destructive and destructive, cutting the fuel up, looking at it under the microscope, that was called post-irradiation examination. We did that quite successfully and indeed we got, I think, quite good at this. And from that, later on, we went on to examine the fuel from the Calder Hall reactors – all the Magnox reactors, the advanced gas-cooled reactor. We started to do work for overseas customers on repayment for water-cooled fuel. So, my life was entirely devoted to running a team on the post-irradiation examination and assessment of fuel. That’s how we earned our living.
 
         Yes, the piles were working. They’d been built, of course, to make plutonium for atom bombs. One knew that the Calder Hall power station was going to be built and you could see the clear way ahead. Magnox stations and perhaps more advanced designs. My team, we were not involved in any way with the military side of things. It was always, ‘What do we need to do to learn the lessons that will make power stations as efficient as possible for nuclear power production?’
 
         I was senior scientific officer. Later on I became a principal scientific officer. Later on still, a research manager, a deputy division head, and then I had my own division, division head, head of laboratories.
 
         I lived at Greengarth [hostel for Sellafield staff] at first. It was funny, of course, having been married for some time, but it was easy living there, you got waited on, your food served. Then we got the flat in Seascale, an authority house, we had two authority houses in turn because the house you got was dependent on your grade.
         
 
         Pam had spotted a house on the Banks, in Seascale, a bit like the one that you grew up in, wasn’t it? Opposite the golf course. And we moved in there and we spent ten years there. Andrew, our eldest son, had been born in Cambridge, but Sally our daughter was born in Whitehaven, at the nursing home there, wasn’t she, Pam?
 
         Pam [speaking]: I spent quite a lot of time at home and then there came a vacancy in Seascale primary school. A teacher was asked to go away on, on a French course, to teach French to primary children and she never came back. So the deputy headmistress happened to be two doors down from where we were living. And she said, ‘Would I go into school and fill in for them?’ I was a qualified teacher: I’d taught in Cambridge. And so I went there and filled in for the ten days. She never came back and I never left and I taught there for twenty-five years. I was deputy head, head of infants and finally the head.
         
 
         It rapidly expanded. When I joined, there were three hundred and twenty children in that school. A lot were the village people, they all got on terribly well, it was a very lively school. I mean obviously, most of the parents had got degrees, because we were all young. At least one parent had a degree and nearly always two of them had got degrees. So they were terribly anxious for their children to do well and were tremendously supportive. They were wonderful children to teach. They wanted to learn. I mean there was no problem about that. The percentage of eleven-plus places that went to Seascale was very high.
 
         Dr Eldred: Well, where are we now, then? Yes, I continued to run the section and groups involved with the post-irradiation examination, deciding which fuel should be sent here for examination from the power stations in the UK. I used to go to London every two months to report to the National Fuel Committee, on how this work was going on.
         
 
         The actual day of the fire, I was down at Risley interviewing staff and I got a message, ‘return to base immediately’ or something like that, which I did. We were told to stay indoors and we provided one or two staff to go and help up at the pile there, but otherwise the instructions to people were to carry on with their normal job and …
         
 
         Pam: I had my dining-room carpet spread out on the lawn and a child in a pram when it all went up.
         
 
         Dr Eldred: We knew the health physics people well, so we knew that if there was any serious risk they would tell us. What they did of course was to condemn the milk, which had got radioactive iodine in it, and they poured that away. That was the only thing …
         
 
         Pam: I remember having The Times reporter parked in the drive. There were reporters all over the place and in the pub of course interviewing the staff, particularly industrial staff. They got all sorts of stories out of them!
         
 
         The other thing, when I was [teaching] at school, a few years later, there was renewed interest in the amount of leukaemia cases. I knew how many leukaemia events there were in this corner and there were very, very few. But we had a kind of renewal of interest and I remember one American reporter, in the playground, trying to interview parents. I charged out like a bull in a china shop and told them exactly what to do! That was the kind of thing we, occasionally, got, but very little.
 
         Dr Eldred: I tell you light hearted now, but I came home about that time, one afternoon, there was a BBC Television van in the yard here. I thought, ‘Cheeky devils!’ Coming to interview my wife at home, you see? So I came in, and I could see Pam being interrogated as we might be now, you see? Fortunately I hadn’t said too much before they explained what they’d come to see us about was …
         
 
         Pam: I had a fell pony and a donkey and they were filming up at Wasdale Head, filming a medieval epic, and they wanted old-fashioned animals; you see the donkey and fell pony fitted in beautifully, so I got a film contract for those two animals. But he came in raging! You know, ‘What are you doing …!’ I got £10 each performance. So, it was a bit funny.
         
 
         Dr Eldred: You’ve got to remember there’d been a war and all sorts of things had happened and people were tougher than they are now really. Compared with some of the things people had been through during the war, there wasn’t any apparent serious risk, you know? It was obviously a good idea to throw the contaminated milk away, but even that wasn’t essential.
         
 
         I think we gradually integrated quite well, that’s not to pretend we became Cumbrians. Joe Thwaites, his wife ran the Post Office out here, he had the campsite. We worked together on our field doing the drains. And he was an expert at it. I was just his mate, or marra as you might say [in West Cumbria].
 
         He used to speak to me in Cumbrian just to confuse me a bit. And one day he said to me, ‘Oh you, you hod lang ’un, whilst I put laal ’un in swin ways.’ [‘Hold [the] long one, while I put [the] little one in crossways or slantwise.] I said, ‘Joe, if you’re going to talk to me like that, we’ll have to go up to the house and write a dictionary!’
 
         Safety became much more formalized as one went on. One began to get the feeling that provided people had written down the safety assessment on a set of forms, it was done, you see? Which I knew and others knew perfectly well, of course, it’s not till you implement it that it’s okay. So it got more administrative and pedantic and so on. Originally, there was an enormous spirit of enthusiasm. That went off a bit, over the years. I’ve been retired since 1990 when I was sixty-five, so I haven’t been closely in touch.
 
         It was a pretty proud record that Calder Hall went on for fifty years and there were no significant accidents. But the public at large and the government became less enthusiastic about nuclear power. There was plenty of oil coming from the North Sea and so on.
 
         If we could have charged ahead at that stage and particularly in conjunction with the French, we would have collared the large part of the world’s business in nuclear power. But we lost that gradually. Now of course British Energy was effectively sold on. We’ve got the situation now where the South Koreans and the people like that, I mean, are much more the power in the lab, the power in the world, on the provision of new nuclear power stations. We don’t now have British companies that can so readily do all that.
         
 
         I’m proud of what was done, but sorry that we lost that initiative. We could have had a thriving industry getting work from all over the world, so, that, that’s a disappointment now. We were way ahead of the game, you see.
 
         Pam: In the early days they used to cycle in and out of work along what is called the Dandy Path in Seascale – very rarely used now, but it was a cycle path in those days. I could always tell when my husband had been irradiated because he’d have … his hair was standing on end when he came home!
         
 
         Dr Eldred: I wasn’t irradiated. I used to work in protective clothing … and afterwards, you had a shower and wash your hair …
         
 
         Pam: The other thing that was good about it, he’s been a smoker – pipe smoker – all his life. And of course, when he was working in the labs he couldn’t smoke his pipe.
         
 
         Dr Eldred: Compared with other ways people had of earning their living, it was a nice, safe, secure reliable industry to be in. I used to interview them all, you know, and I said, ‘Well how do you find it, working here, compared with down the coal-mines?’ You see, it was a doddle. They got pampered, more safety and all the other things that went with it …
         
 
         I knew the medical officer quite well and he would say when I went in, ‘You know, you’re still smoking.’ And I said, ‘Yes sir.’ He said, ‘How much?’ ‘About four ounces a week.’ He said, ‘Oh yes, that’s about what I smoke!’ You wouldn’t think it was possible now, would you?
 
         In your own office, I mean you tended not to smoke in front of other people, but you could smoke in your own office, outside the active area. I used to chair the LJIC there, the Local Joint Industrial Council, with all the trade unions, you know? And I remember on one occasion we had some protracted meetings. I could tell that some of the members were getting very itchy ’cause they couldn’t smoke so I said, ‘Well … if the ones who want to smoke come and sit round me and the others go to the other end of this table!’ You wouldn’t dare suggest it now, you see.
         
 
         I remember the Greenpeace protestors. I was with the BNFL people, but I was asked to go out with them and talk to these protestors, you know, outside. We thought they were misguided. At the same time one recognized that one needed to treat their concerns seriously. They were invited in and shown round and all that. It was all part of the anti-nuclear thing, partly connected of course at that time with the bases in East Anglia, American bases. It got all mixed up.
 
         We weren’t involved with the military side, it was peaceful use of atomic energy, but these other people they got it mixed up. I mean the plutonium that was generated in the Calder reactors could be used to make bombs, but at the same time, in making it you generated all this power, so they were … rather mixed up.
 
         Take yourself back to when there were no nuclear power stations. There are now something like four hundred and thirty worldwide, so it’s a well-established industry. Of course it’ll be falling off as the remaining nuclear stations close. Magnox are closing when they get to the end of their life and, and so will others.
 
         One hopes that more stations are going to be built here, because we’re going to be very hard up for power in a few years, with North Sea oil stopping. We’re certainly going to be very dependent on overseas people. Windmills aren’t going to add a lot to all that.
 
         Pam: You come across odd kind of prejudices. You don’t have to go very far away from the immediate area to meet it. I’ve been on WI committees for years and the Carlisle people are very reluctant to accept it. And that’s not very far away. But they’ve never had any benefits from it, you see? Whereas here in West Cumberland, well, we certainly have.
         
 
         Dr Eldred: We have got established here, brought up our family, took part in all sorts of things and got accepted. Even though we’re still not Cumbrians, we never will be. John, our son, who’s the gynaecologist at the hospital, he gives a lecture, he starts off with a picture of himself naked on Seascale – and his sister – naked on Drigg beach.
         
 
         Pam: At a very early age!
         
 
         Dr Eldred: On Seascale beach, yes, that’s right. He says, you know, ‘I was brought up in Seascale, I’ve worked hard and you know, got qualified and done all these things and now I’m …’
         
 
         Pam: Back in Seascale!
         
 
         Dr Eldred: ‘Back in Seascale’, you know?
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